RECEIVED

Sep 15 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James E. Chellis
Dorchester County Master-in-Equity

APELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001168

NCP PILIGRIM, LLC, Respondent,

v.

MARY LOU CERCOPELY, DAVID S. CLANCY, SOUTH CAROLINA FEDERAL
CREDIIT UNION, SOUTHCOAST COMMUNITY BANK, JOAN GEANURACOS and
DAVID SEAN CLANCY,

of whom MARY LOU CERCOPELY, DAVID S. CLANCY
and DAVID SEAN CLANCY are the Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Robert B. Varnado (S.C. Bar # 0007850)
VARNADO LAW FIRM, LLC
36 Broad Street, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 737-7301

INTRODUCTION

Under the Supremacy Clause [U.S. Const. Art. VI, cl. 2], the Master's order is not merely *erroneous*, it is beyond his *power* – and is therefore ***void***. This conclusion does not apply to pre-emption generally, but only to those laws that pre-empt a State's actual adjudicatory or regulatory power. *Longshoremen v. Davis*, 476 U.S. 380, 391 (1986).

It is clearly within Congress' powers under the Constitution to establish an exclusive federal forum to adjudicate issues of federal law in a particular area that Congress has the authority to regulate. *Longshoremen*, 476 U.S. at 388. Whether Congress has done so *in this specific case* is the question of law that **must** be answered when a party claims that a state court's adjudicatory power is pre-empted.

Such a determination of Congressional intent – and of the boundaries and character of a pre-empting congressional enactment – is one of federal law. *Id.* The courts are to examine whether “the text ... expressly limit[s] the jurisdiction that other statutes confer.” *Free Enterprise Fund v. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board*, 561 U.S. 477, 489 (2010); *see also, e.g., Elgin v. Department of Treasury*, 576 U.S. 1, 25 (2012) (explaining that, “[w]hen dealing with an express preclusion clause ... we determine the scope of preclusion simply by interpreting the words Congress has chosen.”).

Therefore, the resolution of the matter “begins where all such inquiries must begin: with the language of the *statute* itself.” *United States v. Ron Pair Enterprises, Inc.*, 489 U.S. 235, 241 (1989) (emphasis added). In this case, it is also where the inquiry should end.

First, the relevant statute declares that “no court shall have jurisdiction over any claim or action for payment from, or any action seeking a determination of rights with

respect to, the assets of any depository institution for which the [FDIC] has been appointed receiver, including assets which the [FDIC] may acquire from itself as such receiver.” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D)(i). And, most critically, the Master does not nor cannot point to a single independent and adequate state ground in support of his decision. *See Beard v. Kindler*, 558 U.S. 53, 60 (2009).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Was the Dorchester County Master in Equity’s interpretation of a federal law, 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D), not merely erroneous, but also void under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution?
2. Does an “independent” state ground from 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D) exist?
3. Does there exist any “firmly established” and “strictly followed” state grounds to support the Master in Equity’s decision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As it cannot be disputed that “the sole function of the courts is to enforce [a statute] according to its terms,” *Id.* (citing *Caminetti v. United States*, 242 U. S. 470, 485 (1917)); *see also Evans v. State*, 344 S.C. 60, 543 S.E.2d 547 (2001). Thus, few facts are needed to appreciate the constitutional issue here.

On June 10, 2004, Barbara Clancy executed a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on 117 South Cedar Street, Summerville, South Carolina (“Property”) to secure repayment on a Home Equity Line of Credit (“HELOC”) granted her son, David Clancy, by Carolina Federal Savings Bank¹ (“CFSB”), insured by the FDIC, not to exceed \$258,940.00. [R pp. 566-574].

¹ Carolina Federal Savings Bank (CFSB) was chartered in August 1960 as a federal credit union under the name of Sacred Heart of Charleston, S.C. Federal Credit Union. In August

Thereafter, CFSB's federal regulator, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") closed CFSB; pursuant to the Financial Institutions Recovery Reform and Enforcement Act ("FIRREA"), Pub. L. 101-73, 103 Stat. 183 (1989) and it appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC" or "Corporation") as receiver ("FDIC-R") on June 8, 2012. *See* 12 U.S.C. § 1821(c)(6)(B). [R. p. 481-482].

Upon its appointment, and by operation of law, the FDIC-R succeeded to "all rights, titles, powers, and privileges of the insured depository institution, and of any stockholder, member, accountholder, depositor, officer, or director of such institution with respect to the institution and the assets of the institution; and title to the books, records, and assets of any previous conservator or other legal custodian of such institution," 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(A)(i)-(ii). [R. p. 3].

Pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1823(d)(1), the FDIC has the legal right to purchase Clancy's HELOC and shall, by operation of law, assume "all of the rights, powers, privileges, and authorities of the [FDIC] as receiver under sections 1821 and 1825(b) of this title," by acquiring such asset. 12 U.S.C. § 1823(d)(3)(A). The FDIC-R or FDIC may "acquire, directly or indirectly, ownership or control through—(i) an acquisition of shares; (ii) an acquisition of assets or assumption of liabilities; (iii) a merger or consolidation; or (iv) any similar transaction." 12 U.S.C. 1823(d)(4). To effectuate the broad powers, "[n]o agreement which tends to diminish or defeat the interest of the Corporation in any asset acquired ... by purchase or as receiver of any insured depository institution, shall be valid" to defeat or diminish the interest of the FDIC "unless such agreement (A) is in writing, (B) was executed by the depository institution and any person claiming an adverse interest

1999, the credit union converted its charter to a thrift and changed its name to Carolina Federal Savings Bank.

thereunder, including the obligor, contemporaneously with the acquisition of the asset by the depository institution, (C) was approved by the board of directors of the depository institution or its loan committee, which approval shall be reflected in the minutes of said board or committee, and (D) has been, continuously, from the time of its execution, an official record of the depository institution.” 12 U.S.C. 1823(e)(1).

FDIC-R is granted additional rights and duties under that, *inter alia*, declare “no court shall have jurisdiction over any claim or action for payment from, or any action seeking a determination of rights with respect to, the assets of any depository institution for which the Corporation has been appointed receiver, including assets which the Corporation may acquire from itself as such receiver.” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D)(i).

To effectuate such an “acquisition,” FDIC-R formed ‘CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC’ (“Company”) on December 5, 2012 as its sole member. Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, the FDIC-R “*contributed in part and sold in part* to the Company [FDIC-R’s] the right title and interest to [certain assets]” including Clancy’s HELOC. *See* Private Owner Interest Sale and Assignment Agreement (“Agreement”). The Company then issued a promissory note payable to the FDIC in the amount of \$71 million, due December 11, 2019. [R. p. 410].

After conducting a sealed bid auction for a forty percent (40%) limited liability company interest in the Company, the FDIC selected Colony Capital Acquisitions, LLC (“CCA”) as the successful bidder. CCA, as required under the Agreement, formed ColFin 2012 CRE ADC-1 Holdco, LLC (“Private Owner” or “PO”) as the 40% limited liability company owner; FDIC-R retained a sixty percent (60%) interest in the Company. The Agreement expressly states “that the Private Owner may not assign this Agreement or any

of its rights, interests or obligations hereunder. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of this Agreement shall be null and *void ab initio*.”

On March 13, 2013, the FDIC-R filed an Assignment of Real Estate Mortgage, recorded in Dorchester County RMC Book 8718, Pages 33-37, effective December 11, 2012. The HELOC is not mentioned as part of the assignment. [R. p. 81].

On June 28, 2018, Midland Bank contacted Clancy to inform him that the servicing of his loan was being transferred to NCP Pilgrim, LLC. Thereafter, on October 25, 2018, NCP counsel, Ms. Lauren Williams, wrote Appellants, informing them that her client “had recently purchase the loan from the FDIC,” and demanded payment. [R. p. 530].

On November 15, 2018 Respondent filed a foreclosure action against Appellants in Dorchester County, stating it was as the “holder of said loan documents,” and seeking, *inter alia*, a declaratory judgment as to perfect its mortgage based on the following allegations in the complaint:

“March 8, 2013, the Note and Mortgage was assigned by Carolina to CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC, as recorded with the ROD in Book 8718 at Page 33 (Exhibit 4).” Complaint ¶ 12; and

“Thereafter, on or about August 23, 2018, CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC assigned the Note and Mortgage to NCP Pilgrim, LLC, as recorded with the ROD in Book 11512 at Page 126 (Exhibit 5).” Complaint ¶ 13.

[R. pp. 532-536.].

On January 3, 2019 Respondent filed a Proposed Order of Reference that states “Pursuant to an Order of the South Carolina Supreme Court, this Non-Jury matter is now referred to the Dorchester County Master In Equity with finality,” for the Dorchester County Clerk of Court to sign. The Clerk of Court signed the order of reference the next day. [R. p. 1]. Thereafter, on January 22, 2019, the Appellants timely answered with

defenses and counterclaims. [R. pp. 91-117]. The Master did not return the case to the Circuit Court.

At the trial, January 23, 2020, Appellant's counsel moved to dismiss the case, arguing that pursuant to subsection (i) of 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D), no court has jurisdiction over Respondent's declaratory judgment to determine "rights with respect to, the assets of any depository institution for which the Corporation has been appointed receiver, including assets which the Corporation may acquire from itself as such receiver." The Appellant's position is that the plain language of subsection (i) ousts jurisdiction to find "NCP is seeking to exercise its lawful authority to enforce the subject note and mortgage it was assigned by virtue of the assignment from CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC." [R. p. 15].

Although the entire statutory section moved upon is under one hundred words, the Master conceded: "I have not spent a long time on this because [Appellants] are just raising it this morning," and determined that "the statute appears to me to be talking about claims against the creditor. Not the debtor." [R. p. 457 (p. 14/line 20)].

The Master then determined he had jurisdiction over the foreclosure, but that the Appellants' counterclaim against Respondent under SCUTPA were barred under FIRREA. [R. p. 457]. The Master then took testimony as to the Respondent's right in the HELOC and Mortgage, allowing more than two additional months to obtain possession and present the note to the court. [R. pp. 463, 465].

Interpreting "FIRREA sections 1821(d)(3)-(13) require persons making claims *against* a failed financial institution – or seeking to adjudicate their rights *against* the failed institution to present their claims first to the FDIC through its administrative claims

process” – the Master denied the motion and ultimately awarded a judgment for the Respondent on July 13, 2020 for \$367,963.19, with interest accruing at \$35.28 per day. (emphasis in original). [R. pp. 20, 21].

Specifically, the Master’s Order of July 13, 2020 states: “First and foremost, NCP is not making a claim against the failed institution, Carolina Federal, or against the receiver, the FDIC, in this action. Instead, NCP is seeking to exercise its lawful authority to enforce the subject note and mortgage it was assigned by virtue of the assignment from CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC. Thus, I find the administrative claims process and the limitation on judicial review found in §1821(d)(13)(D) are not applicable.” [R. p. 15].

Petitioner timely moved to reconsider on July 23, 2020, citing *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 75 (1985), for the proposition that whether the Master had jurisdiction to declare “NCP is seeking to exercise its lawful authority to enforce the subject note and mortgage it was assigned by virtue of the assignment from CRE/ADC Venture 2012-1, LLC” is antecedent to a determination as to whether his interpretation of 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D)(i) was correct. [R. pp. 998-1007]. The Master denied Appellants Motion to Reconsider by his order of August 5, 2020. [R. pp. 48-50]. Appellants then timely appealed to the Court of Appeals on August 18, 2020. [R. pp. 144-177].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is clearly within Congress’ powers to establish an exclusive federal forum to adjudicate issues of federal law in a particular area that Congress has the authority to regulate² under the Constitution. *Longshoremen v. Davis*, 476 U.S. 380, 388. (1986).

² The Master concedes this point: “FIRREA was enacted in 1989 as an emergency measure to enable the FDIC to expeditiously resolve and liquidate the hundreds

Whether Congress has done so in this specific case is the question that must be answered, when a party claims (as here) that a state court's adjudicatory power is pre-empted. Such a determination of congressional intent and of the boundaries and character of a pre-empting congressional enactment is one of federal law. *Id.* Therefore, federal question raised by the Appellants [and before the Dorchester Country Master in Equity], is purely one of statutory interpretation.

The issue of interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the court. *Charleston Co. Parks Rec. Comm'n v. Somers*, 319 S.C. 65, 67, 459 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1995) (holding the determination of legislative intent is a matter of law). Thus, courts are to examine whether “the text ... expressly limit[s] the jurisdiction that other statutes confer.” *Free Enterprise Fund v. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board*, 561 U.S. 477, 489 (2010); *see also, e.g., Elgin v. Department of Treasury*, 576 U.S. 1, 25 (2012) (explaining that, “[w]hen dealing with an express preclusion clause ... we determine the scope of preclusion simply by interpreting the words Congress has chosen.”).

Although this Court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the lower court, a fundamental tenet of the Supremacy Clause of the United States

of failed financial institutions throughout the country. *Tillman v. Resolution Tr. Corp.*, 37 F.3d 1032, 1035 (4th Cir. 1994). Specifically, FIRREA gives the FDIC the authority to exercise all rights, titles, powers, and privileges of the insured depository institution with respect to the assets of the institution, including the power to transfer any asset or liability of the institution. 12 U.S.C. §1821(d)(2)(A)(i) & (d)(2)(G)(i)(II). Courts across the United States have repeatedly ruled the FDIC's authority includes the power to foreclose on the property of a debtor held by the failed bank as collateral, and no court may enjoin the exercise of that power. *See e.g. Willner v. Dimon*, 849 F.3d 93, 106 (4th Cir. 2017); *Dittmer Properties, L.P. v. F.D.I.C.*, 708 F.3d 1011, 1017 (8th Cir. 2013); *Freeman v. F.D.I.C.*, 56 F.3d 1394, 1399 (D.C. Cir. 1995); *Lloyd v. F.D.I.C.*, 22 F.3d 335, 336-37; 281-300 (1st Cir. 1994); *281-300 Joint Venture v. Onion*, 938 F.2d 35, 39 (5th Cir. 1991), *cert. denied*, 502 U.S. 1057 (1992).” [Order 7/13/20].

Constitution provides that “[t]he States cannot, in the exercise of control over local laws and practice, vest state courts with power to violate the supreme law of the land.” *Kalb v. Feuerstein*, 308 U.S. 433, 439 (1940); *see also Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000) (no particular deference to lower court to decide questions of law). Therefore, because “pre-emption, the practical manifestation of the Supremacy Clause, is always a federal question,” *Longshoremen v. Davis*, 476 U.S. at 388, any “asserted non-federal ground must independently and adequately support the judgment.” *Abie State Bank v. Bryan*, 282 U.S. 765, 773 (1931).

To constitute an “independent” state bar, such a bar must rest on a purely state law ground. *See e.g. Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S. 1032 (1983); *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). A state procedural rule is “adequate” if it is “firmly established” and “regularly followed.” *Beard v. Kindler*, 558 U.S. 53, 60 (2009) (quoting *Lee v. Kemna*, 534 U.S. 362, 375 (2002)).

That determination, itself a federal question, must be addressed on the merits by our Supreme Court, subject to review by the United States Supreme Court (“SCOTUS³”). *See Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S. at 1038-1040 (1983). Therefore, because Appellants’ principle issue involves a constitutional challenge to the state court’s adjudicatory powers, this Appeal should be transferred to the South Carolina Supreme Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. 14-8-200(b)(3).

ARGUMENT

³ As we are faced with interwoven questions of state and federal laws, for clarity the Appellants will refer to the U.S. Supreme Court as ‘SCOTUS’ to avoid any confusion with the South Carolina Supreme Court.

I. The Dorchester County Master in Equity’s interpretation of 12 U.S.C. 1821(d)(13)(D) was erroneous and violates the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.

The relevant subsection of FIRREA, 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D)(i), is absolutely clear that the Court is without substantive jurisdiction over any claim or action of the type put forth in the Respondent’s action herein. The statute provides:

(D) Limitation on judicial review

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, no court shall have jurisdiction over —

- (i) any claim or action for payment from, or any action seeking a determination of rights with respect to, the assets of any depository institution for which the [FDIC] has been appointed receiver, including assets which the [FDIC] may acquire from itself as such receiver; or
- (ii) any claim relating to any act or omission of such institution or the [FDIC] as receiver.

Under sub-paragraph (i), there can be no dispute that CFSB was a “depository institution.” Nor can there exist any dispute that, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1821(c)(6)(B), the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency [“OCC”] has statutory authority to appoint the FDIC as receiver. Therefore, there can be no dispute that upon its appointment, and by operation of law, on June 8, 2012 the FDIC-R succeeded to: “all rights, titles, powers, and privileges of the insured depository institution, and of any stockholder, member, accountholder, depositor, officer, or director of such institution with respect to the institution and the assets of the institution; and title to the books, records, and assets of any previous conservator or other legal custodian of such institution,” 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(2)(A)(i)-(ii).

The error is absolutely clear, as the SCOTUS has “stated time and again that courts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there.” *Connecticut National Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54 (1992); *United States v. Ron Pair Enterprises, Inc.*, 489 U. S. 235, 241-242 (1989); *United States v. Goldenberg*, 168 U. S. 95, 102-103 (1897); *Oneale v. Thornton*, 6 Cranch 53, 68 (1810).

The Master simply rejected the plain language of the statute, which extends the jurisdictional bar in clause (i) to any (1) claim or (2) action for payment from or (3) any action seeking a determination of rights with respect to the assets of any depository institution for which the [FDIC] has been appointed receiver, including assets which the [FDIC] may acquire from itself as such receiver.⁴ When the words of a statute are unambiguous, then, this first canon is also the last: “judicial inquiry is complete.” *Rubin v. United States*, 449 U.S. 424, 430 (1981); *see also In Re Estate of Brown*, 430 S.C. 474, 493, 846 S.E.2d 342, 352 (2020) (“[i]n construing a statute, we need not resort to rules of construction where the statute’s language is plain”).

II. No “independent” state ground from 12 U.S.C. § 1821(d)(13)(D) exists.

Because “pre-emption, the practical manifestation of the Supremacy Clause, is always a federal question,” [*Longshoremen*, 476 U.S. at 388], any “asserted non-federal ground must independently and adequately support the judgment.” *Abie State Bank* at 773.

⁴ Assuming, *arguendo*, there exists some ambiguity as to what defines “the assets of any depository institution for which the [FDIC] has been appointed receiver,” SCOTUS interprets assets to include the HELOC and Mortgage. *Langley v. FDIC*, 484 U.S. 86, 92 (1987). Therefore, the Master “like any other state or federal court, is bound by [the United States Supreme Court’s] interpretation of federal law.” *James v. City of Boise, Idaho*, 136 S.Ct. 685, 686, 2016 WL 280883 (2016) (*per curiam*) (citing *Nitro-Lift Technologies, L.L.C. v. Howard*, 568 U.S. 17, 20-21 (2012) (*per curiam*)).

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