RECEIVED

Jun 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James E. Chellis, Master in Equity

Case No. 2020-001168

NCP PILGRIM, LLC

Respondent,

v.

MARY LOU CERCOPELY, DAVID S. CLANCY, SOUTH CAROLINA FEDERAL
CREDIT UNION, SOUTHCOAST COMMUNITY BANK, JOAN GEANURACOS and
DAVID SEAN CLANCY,

Of whom MARY LOU CERCOPELY, DAVID S. CLANCY,
And DAVID SEAN CLANCY are the

Appellants.

RESPONDENT NCP PILGRIM, LLC'S FINAL BRIEF

Russell P. Patterson, Esquire
Lauren P. Williams, Esquire
Russell P. Patterson, P.A.
P.O. Box 8047
Hilton Head, South Carolina 29938
(843) 341-9300
Attorneys for the Respondent

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

B. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that the FIRREA Administrative Claims Process and Jurisdictional Bar Did Not Apply.

As stated above, whether a federal statute preempts state law is a question of law for the court to decide. *Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store*, 385 S.C. 520, 536, 684 S.E.2d 769, 777 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd and remanded*, 399 S.C. 303, 731 S.E.2d 864 (2012). Here, the Trial Court properly ruled that FIRREA did not preempt its jurisdiction under Rule 53, SCRPC and therefore, the Trial Court had subject matter jurisdiction over this matter.

After conducting a detailed review of the language contained in §1821(d)(3)-(13) and the case law interpreting these sections, the Trial Court properly ruled that Respondent's claims were not subject to FIRREA because NCP was not making a single claim against the failed institution, Carolina Federal, or against the receiver, the FDIC, in this action. In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Court properly relied upon *Tillman* and *Freeman* to conclude that FIRREA section 1821(d)(13)(D) requires only those persons or entities making claims *against a failed financial institution* or seeking to adjudicate their rights *against the failed institution* to present their claims first to the FDIC through its administrative claims process. Ultimately, the Trial Court reasoned that NCP was simply seeking to exercise its lawful authority to enforce the Note and Mortgage it was assigned by virtue of the June 26, 2018 Assignments from CRE/ADC by filing a routine foreclosure action, which is not a claim subject to the administrative review process and the Jurisdictional Bar found in §1821(d)(13)(D). R. pp. 514-517; R. p. 582.

This conclusion is consistent with a review of the national case law evaluating the applicability of the Jurisdictional Bar. Cases throughout the United States have repeatedly held it is abundantly clear the FDIC is authorized to pursue the foreclosure of a failed bank's assets. *Dittmer Properties, L.P. v. F.D.I.C.*, 708 F.3d 1011, 1011 (8th Cir. 2013); *Freeman* at 1399; *Lloyd v. F.D.I.C.*, 22 F.3d 335, 336-37 (1st Cir. 1994); *Joint Venture v. Onion*, 938 F.2d 35, 39 (5th Cir.

1991), *cert. denied*, 502 U.S. 1057 (1992). Specifically, courts have recognized that the disposition of a failed bank's assets is one of the quintessential statutory powers of the FDIC as a receiver. *Pyramid Constr. Co. v. Wind River Petroleum, Inc.*, 866 F.Supp. 513, 517 (D. Utah 1994). These same courts have applied the well-established legal principle that an assignee has all the same rights and privileges as the assignor to hold that a third-party who purchases an asset from the FDIC also has the authority to pursue the foreclosure of the assigned asset. *Dittmer* at 1017; *Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat'l Safe Corp.*, 335 S.C. 635, 640, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999). *See also*, *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Burke*, 902 F.3d 548, 552 (5th Cir. 2018); *Newman v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 81 F. Supp. 3d 735, 745 (D. Minn. 2015); *Haynes v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 466 F. App'x 763, 766 (11th Cir. 2012). Without this principle, it would be illogical for a third-party to ever accept an assignment of an asset from the FDIC, because without the ability to foreclose, the asset would be worthless.

Throughout the multiple cases ruling a third party could proceed with the foreclosure of an asset purchased by a third-party from the FDIC, not one case stated that the third-party purchaser was subject to the FDIC's administrative claims process or Jurisdictional Bar. *See* 122 A.L.R. Fed. 519. Instead, each court has repeatedly upheld the third-party's right to foreclose and did not impose a limitation on judicial review. Respondent has been unable to locate a single case adopting Appellants' position that a third-party purchaser of a loan from the FDIC cannot proceed with a judicial foreclosure and neither have Appellants. As there have been hundreds of thousands of such loans sold by the FDIC, it would seem logical there would be many reported cases supporting Appellants' argument. However, there are none.

Finally, it would be entirely illogical that a third party who purchases an asset from the FDIC would later have to get the FDIC's approval through the administrative claims process before

it could exercise its rights under the terms of the asset. The FDIC's goal is to liquidate the assets of a failed financial institution in order to pay off the failed institution's creditors as quickly as possible. If an asset sold to a third-party purchaser is subject to the administrative claims process, there would be a substantial chilling effect upon the FDIC's ability to perform its statutory functions as a receiver because no third-party would ever purchase an asset from a failed institution. This is especially true in this case where Respondent is attempting to foreclose the loan over seven (7) years after the FDIC took over the failed institution, Carolina Federal, and long after all of the time constraints of the administrative claims process have expired. *See* 12 U.S.C. §1821(d)(3)-(13). Thus, it would not only be impractical for Respondent to comply with the FDIC's administrative claims process, it would be impossible. As highlighted above, Appellant's arguments are at odds with the plain language and intent of FIRREA.

C. The FIRREA Administrative Claims Process and Jurisdictional Bar Do Not Preempt The Trial Court from Determining the Jurisdictional Bar Does Not Apply.

As outlined above, the Jurisdictional Bar only applies in two distinct scenarios, when a person is making a claim against a failed financial institution or seeking to adjudicate their rights against the failed institution. As the Trial Court properly concluded, neither of these two scenarios are present in Respondent's foreclosure action. As discussed below, the Trial Court had the authority to make such a conclusion.

Whether a federal statute preempts state law is a question of law for the trial court to decide. *Weston v. Kim's Dollar Store*, 385 S.C. 520, 536, 684 S.E.2d 769, 777 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd* and *remanded*, 399 S.C. 303, 731 S.E.2d 864 (2012). Courts should not lightly infer preemption. *Normandy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 386 S.C. 393, 409, 688 S.E.2d 136, 144 (Ct. App. 2009). Federal law may preempt state law in three distinct ways: "(1) Congress may expressly define the extent to which it preempts state law; (2) Congress may occupy a field of regulation, 'impliedly'

preempting state law; or (3) a state law may be preempted to the extent it 'conflicts' with federal law." *Id.*

In their Initial Brief, Appellants appear to assert the argument that the mere possibility of the applicability of the Jurisdictional Bar automatically divests the Trial Court from subject matter jurisdiction in this matter. This argument is incorrect. State courts as well as federal courts are entrusted with concurrent jurisdiction to try federal claims. *Haywood v. Drown*, 556 U.S. 729, 734-35 (2009). Furthermore, "the mere fact that a given federal law might 'apply' or even provide a federal defense to a state-law cause of action, is insufficient alone to establish federal question jurisdiction. To give rise to federal question jurisdiction, a court must find complete preemption." *Hart v. Bayer Corp.*, 199 F.3d 239, 244 (5th Cir. 2000) (citing *Franchise Tax Bd. of State of Cal. V. Constr. Laborers Vacation Tr. For S. California*, 463 U.S. 1, 23-24 (1983)).

The Jurisdictional Bar is distinct from other instances of federal preemption, such as the bankruptcy stay highlighted by Appellants in *Kalb v. Feuerstein*, 308 U.S. 433, 438-41 (1940). The plain language of the Jurisdictional Bar clearly indicates that Congress established two specific scenarios under which exclusive jurisdiction would lie with the FDIC. Thus, the Jurisdictional Bar falls squarely into the first way federal law may preempt state law and the plain language establishes the very limited extent to which exclusive jurisdiction would lie with the FDIC. As outlined above, those scenarios are when an individual is (1) making claims against a failed financial institution or (2) seeking to adjudicate their rights against the failed institution. See 12 U.S.C. §1821(d)(13)(D); See e.g. *Tillman* at 1035; *Freeman* at 1399. When a court determines that neither of those two specific scenarios apply, then the Jurisdictional Bar does not apply. Just as the Trial Court did in this matter.

Throughout their Initial Brief, Appellants repeatedly state that the FIRREA Jurisdictional

Bar is indistinguishable from the jurisdictional bar analyzed in *Kalb*. Appellant Br. at 14-15. However, this statement is incorrect. The jurisdictional bar analyzed in *Kalb* is found in the Frazier-Lemke Act. *Kalb* at 436. The *Kalb* court found that the Frazier-Lemke Act's jurisdictional bar preempted all state mortgage foreclosures against farmers based on the Act's explicit and repeated language establishing this complete preemption, such as "the prohibitions . . . shall apply to all judicial or official proceedings in any court or under the direction of any official, and shall apply to all creditors, public or private, and to all of the debtor's property, wherever located." *Id.* at 440-41. The language found in FIRREA's Jurisdictional Bar is clearly distinct from the broad reaching language relied on in *Kalb*. Thus, Appellants' argument is a misguided comparison.

Accordingly, the Trial Court possessed the necessary authority to properly conclude that FIRREA did not apply to Respondent's claims.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT APPELLANTS' WAIVED ALL DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIMS, EXCEPT FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

As stated above, during Trial, Appellants expressly stipulated that they waived all potentially applicable defenses and counterclaims, with the sole exception of their argument that the Trial Court's subject matter jurisdiction was preempted by FIRREA. R. p. 463, lines 19 - 13 (Tr. 42:19-44:13). Based on this express stipulation and waiver, the Trial Court properly concluded that Appellants waived any arguments that were outside the scope of their lack of subject matter jurisdiction argument. *See Bodkin* at 228, 694 S.E.2d at 243 (the court must accept stipulations as binding); *C.A.N. Enterprises, Inc.* at 559, 357 S.E.2d at 715 (stipulations are binding upon parties who make them); *Gatewood* at 247 (appellant was not permitted to raise and discuss a legal ground expressly waived at the circuit court trial). This same reasoning applies to the arguments contained in Appellants' Initial Brief that are outside the scope of their argument that

the MIE lacks subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the provisions of 12 U.S.C. §1821(d)(3)-(13), including their arguments related to the validity of NCP's chain of title regarding the Note and Mortgage and the validity of the Order of Reference. Appellant Br. at 13-14; 16-21.

A. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that Appellants' Trial Waiver of Defenses Included Any Argument Regarding the Validity of NCP's Chain of Title for the Note and Mortgage.

In its Order Denying MTR, the Trial Court properly concluded that Appellants' Trial Waiver of Defenses included a waiver of any argument related to the validity of NCP's chain of title regarding the Note and Mortgage. R. p. 57. In their Initial Brief, Appellants' appear to reassert their argument that NCP is not the valid owner and holder of the Note and Mortgage. Appellant Br. at 13-14; 17-21. This argument has no connection to Appellants' lack of subject matter jurisdiction argument. Thus, Appellants' expressly waived this argument at Trial, and it is not preserved for appellate review. *See S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.")); *Gatewood* at 247 (appellant was not permitted to raise and discuss a legal ground expressly waived at the circuit court trial).

B. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that Appellants' Trial Waiver of Defenses Included Any Argument Regarding the Validity of the Order of Reference.

Similar to the reasoning outlined above, the Trial Court properly concluded that Appellants' Trial Waiver of Defenses included a waiver of Appellants' argument regarding the validity of the Order of Reference. This argument also has no connection to Appellants' lack of subject matter jurisdiction argument and was expressly waived at Trial. *See Bodkin* at 228, 694 S.E.2d at 243; *C.A.N. Enterprises, Inc.* at 559, 357 S.E.2d at 715.

In the alternative, if the Court determines Appellants did not previously waive this argument, it should be denied as untimely and improper. Specifically, Rule 53, SCRCPC explicitly states that in "an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court." Here, NCP filed a foreclosure action on November 15, 2018, and the action was properly referred to the MIE on January 4, 2019, by the Dorchester County Clerk of Court. Subsequently, on January 23, 2019, Appellants filed an Answer demanding a jury trial. Pursuant to this demand, a hearing was held before the Trial Court on February 28, 2019. At that hearing, Appellants failed to raise an objection regarding the Trial Court's authority to rule on the jury trial demand and their request for a jury trial was denied (R. pp. 4-6) and subsequently elected not to appeal the Order of Reference or Order Denying Jury Trial. Additionally, Appellants failed to raise this argument at Trial or in the numerous other briefs filed with the Trial Court in this matter. Thus, Appellants failed to preserve this issue for appeal, and it can no longer be presented. *S.C. Dep't of Transp.* at 301, 641 S.E.2d at 907 (quoting *Wilder Corp.* at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733 ("it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.")).

III. ANY ARGUMENTS CONTAINED IN APPELLANTS' APPEAL REGARDING STAYING THE SALE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ARE MOOT.

Respondent asserts that any arguments contained in Appellants' appeal regarding staying the sale of the Subject Property are moot because Appellants failed to comply with the statutory process to stay a foreclosure sale. Also, the Subject Property was ultimately sold at the December 1, 2020 foreclosure sale. South Carolina law clearly states that the filing of a notice of appeal in a foreclosure case does not automatically stay the relief ordered in the decree of foreclosure and notice of sale. Rule 241(b)(4), SCACR. Instead, if a party wishes to stay a judgment directing the

sale of land to satisfy a mortgage in connection with his appeal, he must move for an order imposing a supersedeas of matters decided in the order on appeal after service of the notice of appeal on all parties. Rule 241(c)(1), SCACR. S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-170 explicitly outlines the requirements of a supersedeas bond or undertaking required to obtain a stay in this situation.

In the instant matter, the MIE issued an Order Imposing Bond, according to the above legal authorities on October 15, 2020. R. pp. 36-51. Appellants failed to comply with any of the terms of this order. Appellants cannot now come to this Court seeking to Appeal the MIE's rulings without complying with the underlying statutes. In fact, Appellants' November 23, 2020, COA Motion was already denied by the Court of Appeals on these same grounds on November 30, 2020. Thus, any arguments regarding the stay of the sale of the Subject Property should be dismissed as moot.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, for the reasons outlined above, the Trial Court properly concluded that the administrative process, and by the same vein, the jurisdictional bar established under FIRREA sections 1821(d)(3)-(13), does not apply to Respondent's claims in this action. Consequently, the Trial Court properly ruled that its subject matter jurisdiction was not preempted by FIRREA, and it had the jurisdictional authority to rule on Respondent's foreclosure claims in this matter.